
RFP QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS

Q. 1.  Section H-52 mentions T&M contracts several times.  Please clarify if this is just 

boilerplate information for the BEDOP process which should be disregarded for this cost reimbursement RFP?

A.  1.  This clause is a boilerplate clause.  References to T&M can be disregarded.  

Q. 2.  Please provide the rationale for requiring submission of a SF1411 as part of this 

competitive RFP (see L-101).  Historically, certified cost and pricing data is normally not required for competitive RFPs.  Request this requirement be deleted.

A. 2.  This requirement has been deleted.  See Amendment 0002

Q. 3.  Please provide a definition of “On-site” and “Off-site”.  Some contractors use the 

term “Off-site” to define performance in Government spaces, while others define “Off-site” to define performance away from Government spaces (i.e., in contractor spaces).

A.  3.  On-Site refers to any work authorized by delivery order to be performed within the physical boundaries of the government facility located in Old Town, San Diego, CA.  Off-Site refers to any work authorized by delivery order to be performed outside the physical boundaries of the government facility located in Old Town, San Diego, CA..

Q. 4.  Section L-302(a) requires offerors to submit actual or proposed unloaded direct 

labor rates for all proposed personnel.  Further, a signed letter of commitment stating each individual’s proposed unloaded labor rate is required for all positions not currently filled by existing employees. This seems an unfair and unreasonable requirement for small disadvantaged businesses in an indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity delivery order contracting environment, and strongly favors the incumbent contractor with an existing workforce.  We request that signed letters of commitment with unloaded labor rate information be limited to key positions only, rather than for all positions.  To further level the competitive playing field, we also request that the resume submission requirement for the seven key categories be limited to one resume for each category.  

A.  4.  See revisions to L-302 in Amendment 0002.  Requirement of number of resumes remains unchanged.

Q. 5.  Section L-302(b) requires that offerors not submit average or composite rates.  

Rather, current actual unloaded rates are to be submitted for each individual proposed.  Once again, this seems an unfair and unreasonable requirement for small disadvantaged businesses in an indefinite delivery/indefinite quantity delivery order contracting environment, and favors incumbent with an in-place workforce.  We request that average or composite rates be authorized for hours proposed for non-key, non-resumed positions.  Section M-4 appears to permit this approach.  If so, Section M-4 conflicts with L-302(b).  Please clarify this apparent discrepancy.  

A.  5.  See revisions to L-302 in Amendment 0002.

Q. 6.  What does the Government consider a standard man year?  Section L-303(a)(3) 

indicates 2,000 man hours represents a standard man year, but the man hour breakdowns on pages 78 and 79 indicate 1,776 man hours may be a standard man year.  Please clarify.  To ensure a level competitive playing field, is it correct to assume that all offerors should use 2,000 man hours per year for the Program Manager, Production Manager, and Information Technology Manager, whether they are proposed as direct charge employees or included in an offeror’s overhead pool? 

A.  6.  L-303(a)(3) states the Government’s manhour requirements for each of the labor categories identified therein.  These manhours are only for those offerors who will be direct charging these labor categories.  The Government is not stating that 2,000 manhours is a standard manyear.  Furthermore, the hours shown on pages 78 and 79 are also the Government’s manhour requirements and not meant to indicate a standard manyear.  

Q. 7.  Section L-303(a)(3) provides alternatives for pricing three specific key labor 

categories, and also provides notification that the Government may cap an offeror’s overhead rate if it is unverifiable (presumably by DCAA).  We request this potential restriction be removed from the RFP.  This is a cost reimbursement, indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity delivery order contract.  If the Government cannot guarantee the number of hours to be ordered during the contract term, nor the  location where work will be performed (contractor or Government spaces), how can offerors be expected to assume the risk of performance within indirect rates capped arbitrarily by the Government through the entire contract term? 

A. 7.  Although the hours cannot be guaranteed, history has proven that the estimated 

hours are realized.  The location of the work will be government spaces.  The government’s option to impose an overhead cap remains.

Q. 8.  In Section L-307, please clarify the difference (if any) on Page 82 between the 

“Material” caption under Other Direct Costs (ODCs) and the second “Material” caption (listed directly under SUBTOTAL (Fixed Fee Pool).  Please advise which  “Material” caption the normalized ODC amounts provided in L-304 should be included under.  Is it correct to assume that the normalized ODC amounts in L-304 will satisfy the requirements of L-301(a)(1)?

A.  8.  Clause L-307 reflects a basic format.  Some offerors may have additional elements, i.e., FCCOM.  The amounts shown in L-304 will satisfy the requirements of L-301(a)(1), unless L-304(d) is applicable.

Q. 9.  Since a significant portion of the RFP level of effort involves non-exempt labor 

categories, will the Service Contract Act be applicable to this RFP?  If so, will applicable Wage Determinations defining common wage rates and health and welfare benefits for non–exempt categories be provided for all prospective offerors? 

A.  9.  The Service Contract Act does not apply to this requirement.  The Walsh Healy Public Contracts Act applies.

Q. 10.  The information required by Section L-210(a)(17) does not appear to have any

relevance with past performance, but rather applies to how an awarded contract will be managed.  Does this requirement more correctly belong in the management oral presentation?  If not, will this additional information be included in the Volume I(B) page count?  If it is not included in either the oral presentation or the Contractor’s Past Performance Volume, please advise where it should be presented.

A. 10.  Please see Clause L-101(b)(3)(ii) on page 67.

Q. 11.  Please advise why there is a requirement to provide unloaded labor rates for the 

Program Manager, Production Manager and Information Technology Manager if they are included in an offeror’s indirect cost pool?  Corporate indirect rates will already be evaluated as part of the cost volume.  Should these three positions be provided under an offeror’s indirect cost pool, there is no relevance to direct labor rates.  We request the requirement to provide unloaded labor rates for these three positions be deleted if they are proposed as indirect costs. 

A.  11.  The requirement to provide unloaded labor rates for these 3 positions is only required if they are being direct charged.

Q. 12.  In RFP Attachment I - SOW, Paragraph 1.1, please clarify the term “…sub-

contractor-facility tasking.”  Is it the Government’s intent when work is beyond the physical or technical capability of the Depot that contractor facility tasking (vice subcontractor facility tasking) be required?  Is “subcontractor” the correct term, rather than the term “contractor”?  

A.  12.  Subcontractor is the correct term.  Powder coating painting is an example of when subcontractor facility tasking may be required.

Q. 13.  In RFP Attachment I - SOW, Paragraph 3.2.11, please clarify what ATE systems 

the successful offeror will develop Test Program Sets in support of?

A.  13.  Currently, Automatic Testing Systems exist for the AN/WSC-3, WLR-8, BRD-7, SSR-1.

Q. 14.  In RFP Attachment I - SOW, Paragraph 3.2.13, the experience requirements for 

the engineering categories do not reference Reliability/Maintainability programs. Is this an oversight?  Please advise what contractor or RFP personnel categories will support such requirements?

A. 14.  No.  This is not an oversight.  The electronic design engineer will support the

Reliability/Maintainability programs.

Q. 15.  In RFP Attachment IV - Page 6, Item 20, Field Engineer – Communications, 

please advise why this category is restricted to Mechanical Engineers since the effort appears to encompass all engineering disciplines and is addressed toward electronic maintenance and repair.

A. 15.   See revisions provided in Amendment 0002

Q.  16.  In RFP Attachment IV - Page 7, Item 21, Field Engineer - Other Systems.  Same 

as above.  Please advise why this category is restricted to Mechanical Engineers since the effort appears to encompass all engineering disciplines and is addressed toward electronic maintenance and repair.

A.  16.  See revisions provided in Amendment 0002.

Q. 17.  In RFP Attachment IV - Pages 7 through 9, Items 23, 26, and 30, please further 

define “on-the-job” training.  Four years of “on-the-job training” seems excessive for Item 23 (Senior Data Management Tech) and 30 (Quality Assurance Manager), and no specific years of “on-the-job” experience are cited for Item 26 (Material Acquisition Expeditor).

A.  17.  See revisions provided in Amendment 0002.

Q. 18.  Section H-37(a) on page 24 is ambiguous.  Please provide further definition of 

the type and frequency of work covered by this subparagraph.

A.  18.   This is intended as an information item.  In the event a task, such as hazardous material disposal is necessary, which might impact health or safety issues, standard safeguards must be remembered.  No work is currently planned for this area.

Q. 19.  In Section L101(1), subparagraph 5.1, please advise if the Government will limit 

in any way the number of individuals permitted to participate in the caucus prior to presentation of the sample task.

A. 19.  See revisions to L101.1 paragraph 5 in Amendment 0002.

Q. 20.  Please define off-site and on-site as used in para. L-303.  We have interpreted the

off-site work as off-site SPAWAR but still on government installations.  Our understanding is that no work will be performed on the contractor site.

A. 20.   See the answer to question 3.  

Q. 21.  In general what is SPAWAR’s standard direct labor hours per year – 1920, 1776 

or 2080?  All are referenced in the RFP.

A. 21.  See the answer to question 6.

Q. 22.  Please clarify para. L-302.  Are salaries and letters of commitment required for 

non-resumed personnel?  Please note that if so it would be very difficult to accomplish in the proposal time allocated. There are hours for approximately 85 people.

A. 22.  Salary information is required for all personnel.  Letters of commitment are 

required for key personnel who are not currently employed by the offeror or its subcontractor(s).   Please see revision to L-302(a) provided in Amendment 0002.

Q. 23.  Please clarify L-303-3.  It is not clear why the Program Manager, Production 

Manager and Information Technology Manager are to be considered as overhead rather than direct charges.  They are full time key people requiring resumes.  All bidders should be required to bid these people in the same way or numbers will not be comparable.

A.  23.    The Government cannot dictate how to propose the above mentioned labor categories.  That is why clause L-303(a)(3) states “consistent with previous depot work experience, typically…”.  However, the Government cannot preclude a potential offeror from submitting a proposal should their accounting system not be able to accommodate these labor categories being treated as overhead.  The last sentence of L-207(a) is deleted.  See Amendment 0002.

Q.   24.   L-101 specifies that in proposal Section A, Personnel the page limitation is 2 pages per resume.  Is it correct to assume that this page count does not include the “summary matrix” specified in L-207(c)?

A.  24.  The page count does not include the summary matrix.

Q.   25.  Is it correct to assume that single rather than double spacing is allowed in tables such as the resume “summary matrix”?

A.  25.   Yes.

Q.   26.  Should the Security Manual (para D8) reference the NISPOM rather than DoD 5220.22M.

A.   26.   The Industrial Security Manual DOD 5220.22M is the correct reference.

Q.   27.  Is the Government aware that the requirement for 8(a) eligibility for award for this contract is the original due date regardless of extensions?

A.  27.  Noted.

Q.   28.  What is the rationale for having education and experience qualifications for critical resumed positions listed as “desired” and non resumed positions listed as “required”?  What are the minimum qualifications that are acceptable?  e.g., would a high school GED candidate with six months experience in listed critical areas be acceptable?  Recommend that “minimum” requirements be established for each critical resumed position.

A.  28. Key personnel qualifications are listed as “desired” for the reasons stated in Clause M-4(d)(1), Qualification of Personnel.  Minimums are being requested for the non resumed personnel only.  

Q.   29.  The requirements for Program Manager do not include a number of critical skills in the personnel qualifications.  These omissions could lead to unacceptably high performance risk.  Shouldn’t the Program Manager’s experience requirement include key areas of the SOW such as design and development (3.2.13), systems engineering (3.2.15) and computer and software development (3.2.18)?  In addition, the required education and experience for the Program Manager are very low for the management of an estimated 58 million dollar contract.

A.   29.  The program manager education and experience qualifications are listed as “desired”.  You may exceed the “desired” qualifications.  Scores may be maximized to the extent proposed personnel exceed the desired criteria.  See Clause M-4(d)1.

Q.   30.  SOW paragraph 3.2.18 and 3.2.19 require use of a variety of software development skills including Ada, Assembly, ATLAS, C++, UNIX, etc.  There is no position description that includes requirements of these specific disciplines.   The Program Manager requires only 2 years experience in supervision of groups of engineers, technicians and other technical workers.  The Information Technology Manager requires only general capabilities in Microsoft capability and networking.  These requirements appear to be understated due to the extreme problems, which have occurred in the past with inadequate software supervision and software engineering qualifications.  This situation also results in unacceptable program risk associated with these tasks.  Shouldn’t both Senior Software Engineer and Software Engineer personnel requirements be added to ensure the proper technical skills are provided for software development?  The Senior Software Engineer should have a BS in Computer Science plus five years experience in software development projects including Ada, Assembly, ATLAS, C++, UNIX, etc.  The software engineer should have a BS in computer science plus 3 years experience in software development projects including Ada, Assembly, ATLAS, C++, UNIX, etc.  This would also require addition of some labor hours to paragraph L-303, page 77.

A.  30.  Although these skills are not specifically mentioned as “desired” for any position description, having these skills as a part of a resume would not be a disadvantage.  Additional labor categories for this effort are not required.

Q.   31.  There is no position for configuration manager for performance of the configuration management tasking under SOW para. 3.2.20.  Suggest adding configuration manager position to RFP with attended labor hours added to para. L-303, page 77.

A.  31.   The degree of configuration management services required may be accomplished by any of the engineering labor categories.  The configuration manager is a government employee.

Q.   32.  For the position of information technology manager, we recommend increasing the minimum qualifications to include a bachelor science in information systems or related field.

A.  32.  The education and experience for the Information Technology Manager is listed as “desired”.   Please see M-4(d)1.

Q.   33.  Page 6 of the personnel requirements indicates that the Field Engineer-Communications needs a BS in Mechanical Engineering.  The Senior Field Engineer-Communications, listed on page 3 needs a BS in Electronics Engineering.  Doesn’t the Field Engineer-Communications require a BS in Electronics Engineering?

A.  33.  See revisions provided in Amendment 0002.

Q.   34.  Page 7 of the personnel requirements indicates that the Field Engineer-Other Systems needs a BS in Mechanical Engineering.  The Senior Field Engineer-Communications, listed on page 4 needs a BS in Electronics Engineering.  Doesn’t the Field Engineer-Other Systems require a BS in Electronics Engineering?

A.  34.  See revisions provided in Amendment 0002

Q.   35.  Should manufacturing experience be included in addition to restoration experience since SOW para. 3.2.2., 3.2.6. and 3.2.17 require manufacturing and repair experience?

A.   35.   The Government’s experience requirements are stated in the personnel qualifications.  Offerors  may propose personnel who exceed the “desired” qualifications or the minimum requirements. 

Q.   36.  We believe that the current State Law requires that any non-exempt employee working in excess of 8 hours in a day be paid overtime.  Page 19, para. H-21 requires work at the Government installation to be performed by the contractor within the normal work hours at SPAWARSYSCEN San Diego.  Subparagraph (d) provides an example of how the contractor could satisfy this requirement by working 40 hours during the week that the Government works 44 hours.  However, the following week the Government would work only 32 hours and would not work on Friday.  This would result in the contractor working only 72 hours every 2week period, unless the contractor worked on the off Friday.  Explain how the contractor can satisfy both the Government and the California State regulations.

A.  36.   The reference to normal workweek refers to government employees.   A normal workweek for a contractor will be as decided by the contractor in accordance with California State Law.  Variance on the Government workweek and the “off-Friday” will not interfere with the contractor normal workweek.  The Government facility is open Monday through Friday.

Q.   37.  Section L-101 states that Volume III will contain a SF1411 and SF33.   Shouldn’t these forms, with attendant back up be in the Cost proposal, Volume II?

A.  37.  Volume III will contain the information as identified in L-101 with the exception of the SF1411.  The SF1411 requirement has been deleted.  See Amendment 0002.

Q.   38.  Page 65, para. L-101(a) allows only two pages maximum per resume.  Page 71, L-207(c) requires a summary matrix, which relates individual resumes to solicitation requirements.  How many pages are allowed for the summary matrix?

A.  38.   A maximum number of pages for this requirement are not stipulated.  The information requested in L-207(c) must be complete.

Q.   39.  Page 74, para. L-210(18) requires the written consent of the proposed significant subcontractors to allow the government to discuss the subcontractor’s past performance.  How many pages are allowed for these written consent documents.

A.  39.   The number of pages is not stipulated.  The requirement is only for written consent from the subcontractors.

Q.   40.  SOW para. 1.2 indicates that computers are connected to a “security isolated server backbone” and reserved for contractor proprietary information.  Should contractor be replaced with contract?

A.  40.  No.

Q.   41.  SOW para. 1.1 indicates that work requirements may occur which are beyond the physical or technical capability of the Depot, requiring specific subcontractor facility tasking.  How are the costs for these tasks to be estimated?

A.  41.   A determination will be made on an individual task basis.

Q.   42.  Page 75, L-301(a)(5), Cost Data asks for identification of subcontractor fringe benefits, overhead, G&A, fee, etc. that has been submitted to the prime.  This data is not normally submitted to the prime.  Does the Government want this data included in a separate “sealed” package provided by the subcontractor?

A.  42.  The information requested in L-301(a)(5) is required.  How the Government receives the required information will probably be dependent upon the agreement between the contractor and the subcontractor.

Q.   43.  Page 76 L-302, Cost Matrix, requests a letter of commitment signed by proposed employees stating their proposed unloaded rate.  The resume section requires a statement of commitment and only for the critical skills.  Is the contractor to provide a letter of commitment for each employee?  If so, where is this letter to be submitted in the proposal?

A.  43.  A letter of commitment is only required as stated in L-302.  The certification mentioned in L-207(d)(11) is not a letter of commitment.  Personnel information belongs in Volume I.

Q. 44.  Page 77 L-303(a)(2), Estimated Level of Effort requests a copy of the offeror’s 

own position description for each labor category.  Please note that the RFP does not contain any position descriptions.  It would be a very big task for the offeror to provide position descriptions for each position in the RFP, and if required, where would they go?  Do you mean for the offeror to provide their equivalent position title, if it differs from the RFP position title?

A. 44.   Equivalent position titles are required, as well as position descriptions.  Volume 

I, Section A contains personnel information.

Q. 45.  L-101(b)(1)(ii), page 66, the proposal format requirement of double spaced will 

make it very difficult to include resume information required under L-207.  

A. 45.  See revision to L-101(a) provided in Amendment 0002.

Q. 46.  Attachment IV, Page 8, Item 29, “technical writer”.  The technical writer position 

does not require the necessary qualifications in education and experience to develop the following software CDRL data items: A004, A025, and A030 through A051.  Include experience in developing software manuals, plans, specifications and reports.  

A.  46.   These CDRLs were cited for the responsibility of the electronics design engineer as his function under development and capability support studies.  The technical writer must possess the necessary skills to interpret the work of various area experts.

Q.   47.  Request that the RFP section L-101.1 #5 be amended to permit attendance at the oral presentation by a single, nonparticipating senior official of the offeror, such as an owner, owner representative, corporate officer, etc.  Oral presentations in the procurements of other agencies consistently permit offerors to have a senior official present to observe the firm’s employees while making a formal presentation for a major contract.  Additionally, in this procurement, the presence of the senior official insures an immediate resolution of any requested clarification in the final portion of the orals.  

A.  47.  There is nothing prohibiting an offeror’s senior official from attending the oral presentations.  A senior official could be one of the 4 individuals comprising the management plan team who then can participate in the clarification questions and answers at the end of the oral presentation.  See revisions to Clause 101.1 paragraph 5 provided in Amendment 0002. 

Q.   48.  Section M, page 90, paragraph 2, Sample Task – Will the sample problem reflect an understanding of the SOW rather than the advantage of an incumbent’s perspective on a particular team?

A.  48.  The sample task will test the offeror’s knowledge and understanding of a depot operation.

Q.   49.  Will you provide a list of conference attendees?

A.  49.  Yes.  The list has been posted on the Business Opportunities Page.

Q.   50.  Any consideration to having more than SIC Code 3663?  It seems many SIC codes apply.

A.  50.  No.  The SIC code has been determined by the Contracting Officer and the Small Business Administration is in concurrence with the determination.  

Q.   51.  Who is responsible for maintenance and repair of test equipment required for contract and delivery order performance?

A.  51.  The government.  See clarification of SOW paragraph 3.2.3 in Amendment 0002.

Q.   52.  Are resume certifications part of resume page count (reference L-207.11)?

A.  52.  No.

Q.   53.  A contract history is required in both L101 Volume I, Section B and Volume III (reference L-102).  Was this intentional?

A.  53.  This information is not being requested twice.  Please read L-102(b).

Q.   54.  A commitment letter is required in L-302.  L-207(11) requires a signed certification for each resume.  Can these be combined or can same document be provided in both places?

A.  54.  No.  The requirements stand as stated.
Q.  55.  The Government will evaluate offers by a two step methodology.  To be eligible 

for further consideration after the first step, and for award, offerors must pass the first step involving Resumes and Past Performance in Proposal Volume I.  Section L-102(b) and (f) requires submission of directly relevant past performance and other capability information, but this is included with Volume III (Contractual).  Will this Volume III information related to past performance and offeror capabilities be specifically evaluated with Volume I as part of the first step?  If not, can this information be moved to Volume I since it is directly applicable?

A. 55.  L-102(b) specifically states if L-210 is included in the solicitation (and it is), 

duplication of information is not necessary.  Past performance information will be submitted in Volume I and that information will be evaluated.  The information submitted in Volume III regarding contractor responsibility is not evaluated by the Technical Evaluation Board.  However, a determination of responsibility must be made on a prospective contractor and any subcontractor prior to award. 

Q.  56.  Section L-207(c) indicates that offerors technical proposals shall contain a 

summary matrix  relating individual resumes to solicitation requirements.  Please further define and clarify the term “…solicitation requirements”.  Is it the Government’s intent that this term means SOW requirements?  Further, Section L-101(a) (Volume I) does not provide the mechanism or space for the summary matrix required by L-207(c).  We request L-101(a) (Volume I) be modified to permit a separate additional page with the summary matrix.

A. 56.  The SOW is part of the solicitation.   The stipulated page limitation for Volume I,

Personnel is for resumes only.  The matrix is a part of Volume I.  There is no page limitation for the matrix. 

Q.  57.  As written, the RFP effectively requires the six key personnel participating in the 

sample task oral presentations be exclusive to each respective offeror.  Obviously, the incumbent or the team on which the incumbent participates has the best opportunity to offer their existing key personnel for the oral presentations, giving them a significant competitive advantage in the evaluation process.  Additionally, should the incumbent team not retain the contract, six very experienced key personnel now supporting the Government will no longer be available.  Stated another way, to level the competitive playing field for all other prospective offerors, we request the Government eliminate the requirement for an oral sample task and replace it with a written technical volume.

A. 57.  The RFP does not require key personnel to be exclusive to the offeror.  It does 

require offerors to submit letters of commitment on those proposed key personnel who are not currently employed.  It is possible a person may be proposed under more than one offer.  However, see revisions to L-101.1 paragraph 5 in Amendment 0002.  The oral sample task requirement remains.

Q. 58.  The past performance evaluation factors do not cover the entire Statement of 

Work, e.g., SOW paragraphs 3.2.11 through 3.2.20 are not covered/applicable as subfactors in the RFP’s past performance evaluation criteria.  As written, it could be interpreted that it is written to given the incumbent team an advantage since the incumbent is not currently performing tasks 3.2.11 through 3.2.20.  In addition, paragraph 2, subfactors 1.1 and 1.2 implies that if offerors have not operated a 50+ person depot, they would not qualify.  This would narrow the competition since there are only two Navy communications equipment depots.  Recommend rewriting past performance for evaluation of offerors past performance in all SOW paragraphs, since as written, all SOW paragraphs are of equal importance.

A. 58.  The SOW reflects the types of work to be accomplished under this requirement. 

 It is not intended to reflect paragraphs as “more” or “less” important.   It should be read as a “whole” document.  The efforts identified in paragraphs 3.2.11 through 3.2.20 are being accomplished under the current contract.  Past performance factors are not written to cover each specific paragraph in the Statement of Work but to encompass the full range of performance.  The reference in the subfactors to “performance as a restoration depot” does not stipulate “Navy” depots.   The evaluation factors for past performance remain unchanged.
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